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Tha Carnegie Building of the Fletcher Free Library occupies a landscaped corner 
site in downtown Burlington, one block east of the city's major commercial 
street. The design of the building is derived from the precepts of the Ecole 
des Beaux -Arts, its immediate inspiration being the style of the English Renais­ 
sance, possibly a house designed by Inigo Jones.

The library is a high, one story brick building with a hipped roof. A project­ 
ing- gabled entrance pavilion on the main (north) elevation articulates the 
essential division of the library's public areas: two large reading rooms 
flanking a lofty central hall. A projecting central wing on the rear (south) 
elevation completes the plan.

Each wing measures three bays wide and three bays deep. The walls, which are 
laid in common bond, rest upon a rusticated granite foundation with a battered 
granite basement and pulvinated granite watertable above. The windows rest on 
a terra-cotta stringcourse and have terra-cotta cornices and architrave surrounds 
The framing consists of twin fifteen light casements under large tinted transoms. 
Rusticated brick corner pilasters topped by terra-cotta capitals support an en­ 
tablature composed of a terra-cotta architrave, a brick frieze and a highly 
detailed ,qorinthian cornice.

The entrance pavilion consists of a high gabled roof with a terra-cotta cornice 
and partial cornice returns supported by large paired terra-cotta consoles and 
rusticated brick corner pilasters. Framed by this is a large round arched win­ 
dow (presently boarded; stained glass window removed for safe keeping) with a 
terra-cotta keystone and archivolt and a pedimentad entrance porch. The pedi­ 
ment, which is supported by terra-cotta pilasters and has a console set in the 
tympanium, frames a segmental arch supported by engaged terra-cotta columns. 
The library doors, inside the porch, are of modern glass and metal construction 
and are placed in a segments! arched doorway with interrupted terra-cotta 
voussoirs. Both the porch pediment and the gable peak of the pavilion are 
topped with terra-cotta acroteria.

The rear stack wing has a simplified terra-cotta cornice. Below are narrow, 
doublehung attic windows set over the corbelled cornice and th^ terra-cotta con­ 
tinuous lintel course which tops the narrow, recessed two story windows lighting 
the stack room. The stack wing's abstract and functional composition is com­ 
pleted by the basement windows which are in axis with the upper windows, thus 
forming a bold, vertically banded windox-; and wall pattern.

The building's slate roof is topped with metal cresting. Brick chimneys, 
decorated with projecting ribs of brick and terra-cotta, stand at the end of 
both the east and west wings. Ml of the terra-cotta detailing on the building 
is plased and off-white in hue.

(Continued on Continuation Sheet 7-1)
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Major interior features include the 37 foot high, barrel vaulted hall with 
arches springing from plaster capitals supported by paired consoles. The 
hall opens directly onto the reading rooms as well as onto narrow groin vaulted 
second floor galleries. Both the entranceway and the fireplaces at the end of 
each reading room have elaborate pedimented oak surrounds. The rooms on the 
second story, directly above the two reading rooms, are skylighted and have 
fireplaces. The two story stack room has metal shelving and glass floors.

In the spring of 1974 the library was affected by severe settling which re­ 
sulted in the closing of the building and the removal of library operation 
to a temporary location. Stabilization studies are underway.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Carnegie Building of the Fletcher Free Library is Burlington's outstanding 
example of Beaux-Arts style architecture. It is also one of the few products 
in Vermont of the City Beautiful Movement which corresponded with the Beaux- 
Arts style in America, and possibly the only Carnegie Building in Vermont. The 
building is also significant for its landscaped siting, visually anchoring the 
transition from the primarily residential area to the commercial center to the 
we st.

The Fletcher Free Library, established in 1375 by a family which also endowed 
Burlington's hospital, was criticised by the president of its board of trustees 
as early as 1883 for the inadequacy of its quarters in the old Chittenden County 
courthouse. In 1904 a Burlington acquaintance of Andrew Carnegie addressed an 
inquiry to the industrialist then at the height of his program of library endow­ 
ments, requesting him to donate funds for a new building to house the Fletcher 
Free Library. Carnegie offered $50,000 under the conditions that the city fur­ 
nish a site and resolve to provide $5,000 a year to maintain the library. 
These conditions being met, the city offered a competition for the plan of 
the new library. In the face of entries from Boston, New York, Buffalo, Mont- 
pelier, Vermont, and Lowell, Massachusetts, a young Burlington architect, 
Walter R. B. Willcox won the commission.

Willcox, who also designed Burlington's Edwards High School and the Burlington 
Savings Bank, received his training both in the United States and Europe. His 
design for the Fletcher Free Library shows a typical Beaux-Arts concern for monu­ 
mental spaces, bilateral symmetry, and massive, articulated ornament. Shortly 
after the completion of the library Willcox moved to the Pacific Northwest 
where he established a successful architectural practice. He was active in 
the American Institute of Architects, serving a term as its vice-president, and 
later became dean of the University of Oregon School of Architecture, as well 
as a Fellow of the A.I.A.
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